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Introduction


In August and September 2005 staff from the Survey and Investigation Branch of the Royal Commission on the Ancient and Historical Monuments of Wales (RCAHMW) carried out survey and interpretation of the former Town Hall, High Street, Denbigh (Figure 1). The survey was carried out within a wider programme of work by RCAHMW as part of the Denbigh Town Heritage Initiative (DTHI) scheme, a programme which has aimed to inform the DTHI’s work and to produce an authoritative study of the architectural development of the Denbigh townscape.

The building, now in use as the town library, is located on a triangular piece of ground at the east end of the High Street, on an east-west orientation (Figure 2).
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A two-storey building of stone, it was constructed as a market hall and court house in the late sixteenth century, after Robert Dudley, earl of Leicester urged the Justices of the Peace to build a town hall on a plot of land he had donated for the purpose.  Having undergone extensive restoration in the late eighteenth century, the building retained its original usage until the second half of the twentieth century, when it was converted to accommodate the town library. 

Figure 1: Denbigh Town Hall from the north

-west
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Figure 2: Location Map

Methodology

The survey and field investigations were carried out by Susan Fielding with Geoff Ward, David Percival and Louise Barker. The exterior elevations were surveyed using a Leica TCR1205 Total Station with TheoLT software and PhoToPlan to produce a real-time, three-dimensional, digital survey of the outside of the structure (Figure 3), while elements of the interior were surveyed using conventional graphical methods to add to existing architects’ plans. Final scaled plans and elevations were produced from the survey, as well as a three-dimensional solid model, in AutoCAD and 3D Studio Max. A digital photographic survey was also produced. The report was researched by Susan Fielding, Geoff Ward and Nicola Roberts and written by Susan Fielding.

The site archive has been deposited in RCAHMW’s National Monuments Record; applications to reproduce material should be made to the Library and Enquiries Service of the RCAHMW at nmr.wales@rcahmw.gov.uk.
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Figure 3: A 3-dimensional real-time wire-frame model of Denbigh Town Hall
Results

The earliest surviving elements of Denbigh Town Hall date to the late sixteenth century, although a market place is likely to have been central to the development of Denbigh as a successful town prior to this. The origins of Denbigh appear to lie in the eleventh century, when it was described as a small border town. In the later thirteenth century it was a stronghold of Dafydd ap Gruffudd; it was taken by Edward I in 1282 after Dafydd’s defeat. In 1283 Henry de Lacy, third earl of Lincoln, constructed the first castle to aid the consolidation of the English conquest of Wales. He also started work on a set of town walls (possibly for a new ‘planned’ town rather than enclosing the existing settlement) to defend the town’s population against the threat of Welsh insurgence


The first borough charter was granted in 1285, a date when sixty-five burgage plots are recorded in the town, although this fell to only forty-five plots in the years following an attack on the town by Welsh rebels in 1294. Recovery appears to have been speedy; in 1305 fifty-two burgage plots are recorded inside the town walls and a further 183 outside. The market place would have provided an economic and social focal point in Denbigh, as in many towns throughout the medieval and post-medieval periods. It would have held a virtual monopoly on trading within the area, and as such would have almost certainly been within the walled town at this date. Markets were traditionally held in a designated street or square on a certain day, with trading taking place in the open air. This centralisation was brought about not only for the convenience of traders and purchasers, but also by the need of the lord of the manor to govern and regulate the market in matters such as the collection of tolls, the supply and price of food and the checking of weights (Schmeichen & Carls 1999, 3-4). 

The town was devastated by fire during the Wars of the Roses, and subsequently the old walled town was abandoned, with the rebuilding work for the new town concentrated on the site of the modern town. 
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  Figure 4: John Speeds map of Denbigh, 1610.

John Speed’s map of 1610 shows that the street plan in use today was already well established, with a large triangular area to the west of the Town Hall which was probably the location of the later medieval market place at the heart of the new town (Figure 4). In the medieval period market crosses indicated the commercial function of an open square and also proclaimed the market place as a centre of peace and the rule of law (Schmeichen & Carls 1999, 5).The First Edition OS map of Denbigh records the position of ‘The High Cross’ (now removed) at the east end of this area, which had by this time been partially encroached upon. 

In the later medieval period covered market structures began to appear, either in the form of a roofed market cross, such as at Salisbury or Chichester, or in the form of open wooden structures, such as the sixteenth-century example at Pembridge, Herefordshire, designed to keep people and goods dry in the worst of weather. From the second half of the sixteenth century onwards stone market houses of classical form began to appear, although the form with an open arcade on the ground floor with an enclosed upper storey (such as Denbigh) generally remained the same from the later medieval period through to the 1850s. The upper storey commonly served as the town hall, guildhall or the town jail. During the nineteenth century the increasing problems associated with open markets – noise, congestion and pollution among others – led to the phasing out of the street-based market within most British towns, and by 1886 two thirds of Britain’s towns had prohibited marketing on the street.

In 1563 Elizabeth I appointed Robert Dudley, earl of Leicester to the lordship of Denbigh and therefore to be Governor-General of North Wales, a post which he held until his death in 1588. Dudley appears to have had extensive ambitions to transform the town into a central capital worthy of his status as the baron of Denbigh and one of the most influential men in Britain. This project seems to have been relatively short-lived, as Dudley’s overbearing manner increasingly alienated the burgesses and townspeople, who subsequently raised a number of petitions for his removal; he abandoned the town soon after. 

The earliest reference to the town hall is in a letter of 1571, in which Robert Dudley urges the Bishop of St Asaph, Sir John Salisbury, Ellis Price Esq. and the rest of the Justices of the Peace to ‘levie monie towards the building of a new shire hall in Denbigh’ on a plot of land which he has donated for the purpose (1). The wording of the letter suggests that this was to replace an existing shire hall, although no earlier building fulfilling this function has been identified in the town. 

Work appears to have commenced without delay, as dendrochronological dating of the single surviving original roof truss gives a felling date for the timber of 1571; construction of the hall probably began the following year. The use of the term ‘shire hall’ indicates that from the beginning it was intended to be a multi-functional structure which incorporated an open arcaded market on the ground floor and an upper storey which was utilised for Borough meetings, Quarter Sessions and the Grand Sessions of the county. 

The first phase of the town hall was a two-storey, simple Renaissance-style structure built of coursed, roughly-squared limestone with large rough sandstone dressings. It was a gabled building, with the symmetrical west gable forming the front façade facing down the length of the High Street, which would have formed until this time the main market area. As the building was orientated along Vale Street, which descends steeply from the High Street, the rear half of it was constructed to be correspondingly taller, with a basement room in the west bay.

On the ground floor was the main market hall, an open, stone-flagged area, accessed through a central door in the west façade, or through a series of flat-headed colonnades on the north and south sides of the building (Figure 5). 
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Figure 5: Ground-floor plan of Denbigh Town Hall, showing the phasing of building construction. 

The doorway was altered in the nineteenth century, but was probably of a simple round-headed form of similar dimensions to the current opening, with stone voussoirs (Figure 6). The colonnades in the north and south elevations gave access to the market hall through wide openings divided into three by stone Tuscan columns, which were decorated with roll and ovolo mouldings to the top and bottom and sat on square plinths. At the outer ends of the arcades were decorative corbels in a similar style (Figure 7). Over each opening is a simple relieving arch in the rubblework of the wall, and it is possible that the exterior of the hall was originally plastered to give a finer finish to match the quality and colour of the columns. 
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Figure 6: The west façade of Denbigh Town Hall, showing the phases of building.
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Figure 7: The north elevation of Denbigh Town Hall, showing the phases of building


The whole building was nine bays in length; a row of eight identical columns running along the central axis of the hall supported the ceiling beams for the market hall and took the weight of the floor above. It is clear that the market hall occupied the central seven bays of the ground floor, and almost certainly the westernmost bay as well. It is possible, however, that the easternmost bay, recorded as a separate room in the eighteenth-century documentation, was divided from the main body of the hall from the beginning. It is lit by a small window of much cruder construction than most of the hall, having a lintel and jambs of large, mostly unworked stone (Figure 8). If it was in use at this time, it may have been a store room for the market hall, a separate commercial unit, or a room related to the use of the hall for administration purposes.
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Figure 8: The east elevation of Denbigh Town Hall, showing the phases of building.


Little of the layout of the first-floor rooms can be ascertained from any study of the building fabric. Positions for some of the original windows are visible as blocked openings in the west and south external elevations. Those in the west gable end were clearly narrow, two-light openings with round arch heads of simple stone voussoirs. These would have almost certainly flanked a larger central window, probably of similar form, which has been replaced in the eighteenth century. Those in the north elevation retain only their lower outline in the blocking, but are wider than those in the western façade (approximately 1.9 metres as opposed to 1.25 metres).


The single surviving original roof truss, which would have been one of nine, has a cambered tie-beam supporting the principal rafters and three struts which in turn support the collar (Figure 9). Two raking struts sit on the collar, providing additional bracing for the principal rafters into which the purlins were trenched. There are stave holes indicating that this truss was closed above tie-beam level 

[image: image14.jpg]


and, although the base of the wall plate is not visible, it is likely that it was also closed below, forming a partition wall between the western bay and the rest of the first floor. The later documentation indicates that these trusses would have supported a slate roof.  
                                   Figure 9: The surviving truss from the Phase I construction.


On 12 December 1579 a ‘parcel of void land adjoining the east end of the shire hall of Denbigh, 7 yards in length and 3 yards in breadth’ was granted to Harry Walton, a barber and painter, in perpetuity for an annual rent of 12d (2), whilst on 18 February 1606 a cordwainer by the name of William Eves was leased the ‘little shop newly erected under the upper stairs of the shire hall or town hall containing four yards’ for a period of thirty years at an annual rent of 2s 6d (3). The locations of these stairs, or the shop below it, are unknown, although they may be in the eastern bay of the ground floor. The rental gained from this lease was used for the ‘reparation of the hall’, indicating that maintenance was a consideration. Twenty years later the need for repair had become more pressing, as a copy survives of an order made in the Grand Sessions of 1626 that the ‘town and lordship of Denbigh shall repair the shire hall’ (4).

In the same year, on 22 September, the aldermen and bailiffs of Denbigh, using the authority of letters patent issued with the Great Seal of Charles I, ordered the constables of the town to muster all the trained men of the area at the shire hall in order to show arms and be further trained (5).


During the eighteenth century a large quantity of work took place on the town hall, recorded in the Quarter Session Rolls held at the Denbighshire Record Office in Ruthin. Because it was maintenance work, it is difficult to differentiate in the building fabric. The earliest of these Quarter Rolls dates from 1704 and contains an account of money spent on materials and labour for work in the previous year (6). This includes 2000 slates, together with their dressing and carriage, nails and forty yards of crest, indicating that major work was being carried out on the repair of the roof, together with hair, lime, sand, water and dust. Thirteen days of a plasterer’s time may also relate to the roof or other plastering work. Between 1725 and 1775 the Quarter Rolls reveal a constantly rolling programme of work taking place on the building, with a steady stream of receipts and accounts of works carried out (7). Again and again receipts are issued for slating materials and work, plastering materials and work, and glazing materials and work, much of it unquantified but including mention of 505 quarrels or quarries (small diamond panes), and ninety-nine square panes – a massive quantity of glass considering the relatively small number of windows in the building at this time. Prime examples are the rolls for 1744, which contain no less than seven entries relating to the repair of the town hall (8). Among these references all but one are not specific enough to allow the features which have disappeared in the later works, such as the windows, to be identified. The exception is a document of 1725, which states specifically, among the list of usual materials, that six shillings had been paid out to John Lloyd for the repair of the battlements at Denbigh Hall (9), this being the only reference we have to such a feature which would have disappeared in later rebuilding.

Despite this ongoing programme of regular maintenance, by the late 1770s the situation regarding the building fabric was urgent, with the Quarter Session rolls between 1777 and 1788 including a number of entries regarding the state of disrepair. In 1777 the inhabitants are upbraided in both April and October Quarter Sessions for ‘not upholding Denbigh Hall which is much out of repair’ and requesting £15 and £100 respectively for work to be carried out (10). In 1779 another £100 ‘for works’ is requested, and, in 1782, £15 ‘or thereabouts’ from the ‘inhabitants for not putting outside shutters to the windows of the County Hall’ (11). Either these orders were not carried out or the scale of the works required were realised to be more extensive, but in August 1787 a committee was appointed to inspect the hall and report on the state of it and the repairs needed (12). By 1788 the fabric had deteriorated to a point where the ‘Jurors of… Lord the King present that “where the memory of man was not to the contrary” there was/is a common and ancient shire hall used for the holding of sessions … is in great decay for want of reparations so that the sessions could not be kept there without damage… inhabitants need to repair, £200 required’ (13). Considering the amount of repair work which has been documented over the previous fifty years, it is unclear how the deterioration of the building had reached this point.

Subsequently, at the Hilary Sessions of 1788, another committee was appointed to supervise the re-roofing of the building (14). Over the next fourteen years orders survive for a total of a further £496.15s for various works, including £250 for the re-roofing project, £40 for re-flooring and £10 for carpets and cushions (15). In addition, in Easter 1794 Mr Hugh Vaughn was appointed ‘keeper of the county hall’ on a salary of 200 guineas a year, replaced in 1797 by Mr Ellis Jones, who was charged with having the ‘care of the hall above and below stairs’ and who was granted the additional privilege of the ‘use of the room below the court at the east end’ (16).

One of the first jobs was the removal of the roof, for which Messrs Cockram and Waters were contracted, the slates and ridge crests being removed carefully in baskets, and the timber cleaned of all nails in order that they could then be sold in a public auction, slates per thousand, and ridge crest per yard (17). The specifications for the construction of the new roof involved first raising the walls to a height of sixteen feet (4.87metres), upon which were laid new wall plates of green oak. The north and south elevations can be seen today to have been raised by roughly 1.83 metres, and the gable elevations between 1.8-2.0 metres at the outer corners and 0.3-0.4 metres at the top of the gable. The timberwork of the roof was to be constructed of Riga Fir, to a pitch less than the original, and forms the current roof structure. It is a double purlin structure with nine king-post trusses, each element numbered with Roman numerals chiselled into the western faces. This was then ‘covered with best Caernarfon Ton slate nailed to face board at eaves and ridge, properly tiered with a deep stone ridge crest’, which can be seen to follow a standard rather than a graded pattern. The building remained as a gable-roofed structure with a ‘good freestone cornice neatly tooled’, decorated with a simple ovolo moulding placed to the sides of the roof and forming a thin pediment to the gables, with the primary gable coping replaced with a freestone slab coping measuring 4 inches by 1foot 6 inches (0.1 metres by 0.46 metres, (18). On the apex of the west gable, beams sat upon the principle rafters were to be used to support new standards of oak covered with lead, which in turn supported the bell, a structure which was replaced in stone in the nineteenth century (19). 

The surviving specifications for the interior are detailed and identify a number of different rooms in the building (20). Because of the comprehensive refurbishments of the late twentieth century little can be determined from the internal building fabric, and we are reliant on documentary evidence for any information regarding the internal layout of the first floor. A partial plan dating to 1881 shows the council chamber located in the west bay of the first floor, backing onto the ‘hall’ indicated to be the magistrates’ court by the presence of the bench.


The specifications stipulated in some detail the quality of the work to be carried out, allowing us to reconstruct to some extent an interior which has been completely refurbished in the late twentieth century. Internally, flaws in the beams of the hall were to be filled with ‘putty and plaster paris with … quality hair and washed over with paris white’, while the lathes were to have the old plaster pins removed and to be repaired before being washed over with ‘vitriolated water cold’ and covered with a coat of the best tempered hair mortar. When dry a floating coat of the best white stucco was to be put over the ceiling panels. The walls of the hall were to be plastered and finished with stone finishing joints. It is unclear whether in this instance the ‘hall’ referred to is the Town Hall in general, the main ground-floor market hall, or the magistrates’ court on the first floor. Where it states that the hall floor is to be taken up and renewed with two-inch-thick stone flags, however, it is clear that it is the main market hall which is referred to. In addition, the internal woodwork was to be painted with two coats in oil, and all the columns inside and out were to be painted. 

The walls of the staircase were to be repaired, and those of the approach hall and court room were to have a wash of a stone colour applied. Any cracks were to be filled, and the cornice and window mouldings were to be cleaned down and repaired. Any evidence for the location of the original stairs has disappeared, but this indicates that they were internal rather than external. A major overhaul was specified for the jury room, with reflooring (using reused boards from the hall), a new beam and joist ceiling to be stuccoed and a new cornice applied, refloating of the walls in preparation for paper, a refit of the door and a new ‘handsome moulded freestone chimney’, the location of which was altered to be as near the centre as possible. 

The only other room for which a chimney is mentioned is the council chamber, known from the 1881 plan to be located at the front of the building. The chimney stacks for this room are evident in historic photographs of the town hall but were removed in the twentieth century. The surviving chimney on the east gable would have served the jury room, placing it at the opposite end of the building to the council chamber. In addition to the work on the ‘blackstone chimney’ the council chamber was to be refloored, have a plinth put around the room with plain coping and the walls finished for paper, a wainscot applied or repaired and the shutters cleaned, framed and painted. It was not until 30 August 1796, however, that John Jones was given a contract to lay the floor of the County Hall at ‘6s per yard … with American oak board with plain straight jointed floor, edge nailed with oak board cut upon the quarter, inch thick, laid perfectly dry and laid in a workmanlike manner – complete by the 1st day of August 1797.’ (21) 

Externally a new plinth was placed all around the hall, worked from ‘limestone from Nant Glyn…15 inches broad in long lengths of inch (?) thick, well secured with iron dowells and cramped at bottom and same at top, set against walls with good mortar to which stone plinth at plaster finishing to be made good.’ The rubblestone walls were to be rejointed and then covered with a cement render, ‘worked with good floats then after brushed down with milk.’ There is no evidence of the exterior of the building having been rendered, either in the surviving building fabric or the historic photographs, and it is not certain whether the render was removed in the nineteenth century or that the work was ever carried out. 

Four new windows were specified, with accompanying sketches to explain the form they were to take. All were three-light windows with stone mullions, two with an arched head to the central light (A), which can be identified as the Venetian windows on the first floor of the west and south elevations, and two with a flat head to the central light (B), which can be seen in the south elevation on the first floor. These all have stone mullions and projecting stone frames, which were to be fitted with ‘handsome strong casements with springs, all glazed with the best Bristol glass in lead, proper iron bars at each transverse lead 6/8ths by 4/8ths.’ A further note in May 1788 stated that another window (Type B) was to be added to the north side of the hall, evidence for which is obscured by the later nineteenth- and twentieth-century additions. In addition to the windows, receipts are given for the making of shutters – elements which the inhabitants had been berated for neglecting to provide and which were completed by 14 July 1783 (22).

By 1799 the programme of restoration was nearing completion with orders for the ‘different works’ to be painted in oil colouring and the woodwork to be varnished, while the early years of the nineteenth century see orders for carpets, cushions and mats to finalise the refurbishment (23).

The setting for the clock in the west gable appears from the building fabric to date to this phase of work, but the first documentary reference does not appear until a letter of 1835, dated 1 January. In this letter John Williams J(?) asks to be given the contract to repair the clock (24). The current clock workings and face appear to be nineteenth century in date.

There are three documents which relate to the presence of a lock-up in Denbigh. The earliest of these, dating to 1770, refers directly to a lock-up within the town hall building. It comprises an account for work done ‘enclosing a breach in the wall and mending the door of the black chamber which Hugh Roberts a felon broke in attempt of escape.’ (25) This may refer to the small room at the eastern end of the ground-floor market hall, explaining the existence of only one small window lighting this bay. A layout of this kind, with a small lock-up room at one end of the market hall, is common in market halls of sixteenth and early seventeenth century date, a comparable example being Titchfield Market Hall, now at the Weald and Downland Museum.

A second document dates from 17 May 1786 and is a contract ‘Agreed between Thomas Penson of W? in Denbigh and William Simon and William Shackfield (two trustees) to build a lockup house in Denbigh. T Penson to execute and complete the same in a ……. substantial and workmanlike manner, finding an providing all materials and workmanship on or before the 25th day of September next for £37…that part of the town that hath been pointed out and ? for the purpose.’ (26) It is not clear whether this refers to a separate structure on a different site or whether it refers to the extension on the southern side of the Town Hall, which later housed the nineteenth-century police station and cells. In August 1881 there is a solicitor’s account surviving for the ‘sale of land for the building of a lock-up in Denbigh.’ (27) A partial plan of the first floor of the Town Hall dating to 1881 showing ‘the proposed alterations to the retiring room’ (28), and another document of 1875, showing the ‘plan for the proposed retiring room and corridor’ (29), demonstrate that the extension had already been constructed by the date of the solicitor,s account and, unless it is in arrears by some time, must refer to a different building.

The extension housing the nineteenth-century police station is a two-storey structure, although lower in height than the main building, and until the late twentieth century only ran along the western half of the south elevation, with a curving corner sweeping round to meet the west façade (Figure 10). The walls were constructed of roughly coursed rubble limestone with limestone and sandstone dressings and a shallow pitched roof covered with slate. The window openings are similar in form to those of the late-eighteenth-century programme of work, comprising two windows on the first floor in the style of Type B (simple triple light), possibly with a third window in between which has been altered at a later date, and on the ground floor three small, single-light windows (only two of which are still evident) and a larger two-light window, also removed, which is shown on a building plan of 1974. This would have lit a staircase leading to the first-floor courtroom, and which was accessed from the street by a doorway, blocked since 1974.  
[image: image9.jpg]



Figure 10: The south elevation of Denbigh Town Hall, showing the phases of building.
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A small amount of work took place on the front façade of the building in the nineteenth century with the addition of a rusticated, round-arched surround of dressed limestone to the central doorway. To the right of the entrance, against the external elevation, was placed a small limestone drinking fountain consisting of a small semicircular basin with a stone back, decorated with integral columns and an ogee-arched top. The flat surface forming the main body of the backing stone appears to have been engraved with an inscription, but only faint traces of this remain.
Figure 11: Drinking fountain on the western façade
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On the apex of the west gable the timber bell supports described in the 1780s’ specifications were replaced with the existing structure. This is a rusticated stone bellcote with a molded plinth and pediment, round arched bell openings with keystones to the east and west side, and surmounted by a stone hexagonal cupola supporting an wrought iron structure decorated with scrolls and N, S, E and W signifying the directions of the compass. 
Figure 12: The stone bellcote at the apex of the western façade 

On 30 April 1891 it was proposed that some of the roadways and causeways within Denbigh be lowered (30). One of the streets where this subsequently took place was the east end of the High Street (now the top of Vale Street) running past the south side of the Town Hall. 
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Figure 13: The north elevation, clearly showing the partially blocked arcades, blocked original windows on the first floor and the nineteenth century buttress

The purpose of this work was to reduce the gradient at the top of the hill, and the scar of the old road level can be seen clearly towards the base of the south elevation. The effect of this lowering would have been to increase the height difference between the road and the open arcade of the market hall, and it is possibly at this date that the open colonnades were infilled, with stone blocking to the height of the plinth stones and with the boarding and leaded windows visible in historic photographs. It is also likely that the lowering of the road caused some instability to the south elevation, requiring the addition of the rubblestone buttress. 

From the formation of the Denbighshire County Council in 1889 there appears to have existed a state of dispute between the Town Council and the County Council regarding the rights of use of the town hall and the responsibility for maintenance and upgrading, recorded in the minutes of Town Council meetings (31). Minutes from 15 April 1890 record that the County Council disputed that the town council had an equal right of use to the hall, but at the same time state that the Town Council agreed to pay £9 towards the cost of heating in the magistrates’ court and council chamber. It appears to have been decided at this time that, in addition to the open fires, hot water pipes should be laid throughout the hall to provide heating, a decision which was rescinded by the Town Council a year later when it ‘recommends not to heat rooms by means of water pipes (and) that the County Council has been informed that if the heat from the pipes about to be laid in the meeting room is found unbearable they must take steps at their own expense to remedy the situation.’

A resolution of the ongoing tension appears to have been reached in 1924, when the County Hall (as it is referred to after the building of the new ‘town hall’ in Crown Square in 1848) is leased for a period of twenty-one years from 1 August 1924: 
(the) fabric of Denbigh County Hall situated in the said borough is vested in the County Council but the rights of the County Council to use and control the interior of the fabric is limited to the main hall and its approaches and the Police Offices and cells, the Corporation having the exclusive uses and control of the hall or seed market, the Borough Justices room and the Council Chamber, and the joint use of the approaches of the latter room
(for) some years past there has been an arrangement between council and borough authorities that the main hall may be used for Borough purposes when it is not required for County purposes and the Council Chamber may be used for County purposes when not required for Borough purposes … (the) main hall has occasionally used for functions in connection with religious or charitable objects … Arranged Corporation take over control of the main hall … subject to the use of the main hall being available for Quarter Sessions and (various) meetings … demise unto the Corporation all premises known as the Denbigh County Hall … (except the police station office and cells as the same are used and occupied for the purposes of the Denbigh Constabulary) Annual rent £1 

A series of documents from 1935-7 details the particulars of the users of the hall in terms of use of fires, lighting and rooms, who was holding the meeting and the length and purpose of the meeting (32). 


The hall continued in its original use through much of the twentieth century, in 1980 recorded as a court in the Dyffryn Clwyd petty sessional division (DRO NTD/854 Vesey, A G). By 1974, when plans were drawn up for a proposed conversion of the hall into a museum, the extension on the south side of the building had been extended to run nearly the full length of the building. This work had been carried out to match the exterior of the rest of the building, with single and three-light windows to the first floor, and smaller single-light windows to the ground floor, only one of which now survives.  The eastern corner is angled at ground-floor level, stepping out at first-floor level with a heavy decorative stringcourse supported by a series of small corbels over the doorway in the eastern wall. This has a plain stone surround and leads into a hallway with a further flight of steps to the courtroom. This plan describes the internal accommodation provided by the whole southern extension according to the proposed changes rather than the existing uses in most cases, but two rooms are entitled Cell 1 and Cell 2, one within the nineteenth-century section and one in the twentieth-century addition. In the last quarter of the twentieth century alterations were carried out, with many of the smaller openings on the ground floor removed by rebuilding of large sections of walls and the insertion of the current doorway in the south elevation. A lift shaft serving the first floor of the library was inserted and rises above the roof line of the extension. On the north side of the building two new windows were inserted on the ground floor to light the eastern two bays, which by now formed a larger room separate from the main floor of the market hall, whilst concrete render was applied to the decorated lintels forming the heads of the colonnades. 
Discussion


The late sixteenth and seventeenth century are recognised as the ‘great age of town hall building’ (Soulsby, I 1983, 42), when many towns which had previously only had open market squares built their first halls.  These occasionally took the form of a simple single-storey structure, with a covered market accessed at street level through open arcades, such as the fine timber-framed market hall at Pembridge in Herefordshire (built c.1538), but were often a slightly more complex structure, where the an upper storey accessed by a stairway at one end of the structure was used as a town or shire hall, whilst an easily accessible covered market was provided at street level. Denbigh Town Hall, built late in the sixteenth century, can be seen as part of this tradition. It was constructed at the head of the high street, at the heart of the new town, and afforded both a sheltered market area and space for civic offices.  

Few of the sixteenth- or seventeenth-century Welsh market halls still survive. The fine Old Market Hall in Llanidloes, Montgomeryshire, built between 1612 and 1622, is one of only a few Welsh examples of this date, and the only surviving timber-framed market hall in Wales. Many of the others were replaced or demolished in the nineteenth century or twentieth centuries, sadly with little or no record. One in Cardiff is described by W Rees (Rees, W 1969, 37): ‘A stairway from the street led to the upper floor where the hall served the dual purpose of a courtroom and a place of general assembly. Below was the town lock up but the main part on the ground floor was let as the shambles, or meat market, the remainder being reserved for the corn market.’ A market hall is recorded at Usk in 1620, Swansea in 1652 and Ruthin in 1663. Some, such as those at Newtown, Neath, Llantwit Major, Llandovery and Caernarfon, may have replaced medieval predecessors. Few are as well documented as the town hall at Denbigh, although records for the now demolished town hall in Caerleon, Gwent, detail a similar pattern of decline and repair. Built in 1622, it was in need of repair in 1653 and again in 1677, when the bailiffs of Caerleon were ordered to repair it by the Earl of Pembroke. It was in very bad repair in 1814, and demolished in the late 1840s (Kennerley, 1974, 3). A number of market halls of seventeenth-century date do survive in the Marches, including fine timber-framed examples at Leominster (1633) and Ledbury (1653) and the impressive sandstone building at Ross-on-Wye (1650), all two-storey with open arcaded ground floors. Most comparable in date and the best indicator of the original style of Denbigh Town Hall is the Old Market Hall in Shrewsbury, built 1596. It has a ground floor with molded columns forming open colonnades to the sides of the market area, which is also accessed by a round-headed doorway fronting onto the main axis of the street. The first floor, which was initially utilised as a drapers’ hall but later as a magistrates’ court, is lit by a series of stone mullioned windows, and the side elevations are crowned by a battlemented parapet which may reflect the ‘battlements’ documented at Denbigh in 1725.

In many of these market halls one end bay of the ground floor was often enclosed in order to house the staircase accessing the upper floor, with the area below the stairs utilised to provide a small lock-up, as can be seen at the Market Hall in Titchfield, Hampshire, which was built in around 1620 (now at the Weald and Downland Museum, Sussex). Denbigh seems to have had a similar arrangement. Here a felon, Hugh Roberts, is recorded as attempting to escape from the ‘black chamber’ in 1770. Documents also refer to a ‘black chamber’ at Wrexham Town Hall, where a Catholic priest, Richard Gwynn, was held in 1583, before his execution. In Neath the undercroft of the market hall served as the borough prison, and the use of such structures in relation to the market reflected the use of the first-floor rooms for the holding of assizes and as magistrates’ courts.  


The upper floor of Denbigh Town Hall was sub-divided and used as a council chamber and magistrates’ court. Amongst the extensive documentation held in the Denbighshire Records Office in Ruthin is an early-twentieth-century schedule, which mentions the ‘County Justices bench and desk… 1 armchair upholstered in leather… 6 chairs upholstered in leather… 10 mahogany armchairs… a grand jury box… a petty jury box… a witness box… a prisoners dock… a warders box … (and) a criers box’ (34), along with numerous other fixtures and fittings. 


Described as a ‘plain but substantial building’ (33), Denbigh Town Hall is an imposing public building of simple Renaissance character, later reworked in a Georgian style. It stands testament to the ambitions of Robert Dudley, earl of Leicester, having been built during his tenure as Governor General of North Wales, at a time when he was promoting the town as his main administrative centre. Unusually, perhaps even uniquely, the Quarter Session rolls and other documents record the condition of the building and successive phases of work undertaken on it in great detail.  Despite its decline in the seventeenth and early eighteenth centuries, its remodeling in the late eighteenth century ensured that it continued as a structure integral to the civic life of the town.   
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Figure 14: Early Photograph of Denbigh Town Hall, taken from the High Street. 
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